IN THE SUPREME COURT (CRC OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA (8.25(b)

NOV 2 9 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

IN RE I.J. ET AL. (MINORS),

Persons Coming Under the Juvenile Law.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,

Respondent,

v.

J.J. (FATHER),

Petitioner.

Case No. S204622

Deputy

Court of Appeal No. B237271

Superior Court No. CK59248

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY The Honorable Timothy R. Saito, Judge

BRIEF OF PETITIONER J.J. ON THE MERITS

CRISTINA GABRIELIDIS

California Bar No. 214557 6977 Navajo Road, Suite 303 San Diego, California 92119 Telephone: (619) 733-1328 cgabrielidis@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellant J.J.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Where the sole evidence of such risk is the juvenile court's finding that father has sexually abused his female child, may the juvenile court presume that a male child is at substantial risk of future sexual or other abuse by his father, under Welfare and Institutions Code section 300, subdivisions (b), (d) or (j)?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue presented here is purely a matter of law and statutory construction, and is based on undisputed facts. As such, the issue is subject to *de novo* review by this Court with no particular deference being given to the decisions of the trial and lower appellate courts. (*Dawson v. East Side Union High School District* (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 998, 1041; *People v. Taylor* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1084, 1091).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On August 8, 2011, the Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services ("DCFS") petitioned on behalf of 14-year-old I.J. (a female), 12-year-old male twins Saul and Luis, 9-year-old Isabel (a female), and 7-year-old Daniel (a male), alleging violations of Welfare and Institutions Code section 300, subdivisions (b), (d) and (j). The petition alleged that for the past three years, Father had sexually abused I.J. by fondling and digitally penetrating her vagina, raping her and orally copulating her. It also alleged that Father made I.J. watch pornographic videos and that I.J. was afraid of Father. The petition alleged that in light of the sexual abuse, I.J.'s siblings were at risk of physical harm, damage, danger, sexual abuse and failure to protect. (CT 1-9.)²

At the August 8, 2011 detention hearing, the juvenile court found Father to be the presumed father for all of the children. It found there was a *prima facie* case that the children were described by section 300, subdivisions (b), (d) and (j), and ordered them detained from Father and released to Mother. The court granted Mother family maintenance services and authorized monitored visitation between

¹All further statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code, unless otherwise indicated.

²The petition also alleged that Father abused alcohol, which rendered him incapable of providing the children with regular care and supervision, in violation of section 300, subdivision (b). (CT 7.) This allegation was dismissed for lack of evidence by the juvenile court at the adjudication hearing, and is not at issue here. (RT 209-210.)

Father and all of the children except I.J. (RT 5-8, 11; CT 90-91.)

In September 2011, the juvenile court issued a "stay away" order for Father, prohibiting him from any contact with Mother and the children. The temporary restraining order against Father was permitted to lapse. (RT 103-105.)

At the October 2011 contested adjudication and disposition hearing, the juvenile court found the allegations in the petition to be true (amending the counts to delete references to Mother's failure to protect), and declared I.J. a dependent under section 300, subdivisions (b) and (d). It declared I.J.'s siblings dependents under section 300, subdivisions (b), (d) and (j). (RT 208-210; CT 184-187.)

As for disposition, the court removed custody of the children from Father. The court found Mother to be a non-offending parent and ordered family maintenance services for her, to include a sex abuse awareness class. The court granted Father monitored visitation and family counseling with Mother and the children, and ordered him into sex abuse counseling. The court ordered individual counseling for I.J., to address issues associated with sex abuse. The court ordered the next report from DCFS to address the termination of jurisdiction. (RT 211-213; CT 184-187.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 3, 2011, Mother took I.J. to the Los Angeles Police Department to report that Father had been sexually abusing her. (CT 53.) There were no criminal charges filed against Father, but on August 4, 2011, Mother secured a month-long temporary restraining order against him, protecting herself and the children. (CT 32-35.)

Mother became suspicious of Father as his behavior had changed in the weeks leading up to August 2011. He began to drink alcohol abusively, wanted Mother to take Luis with her to run errands and to leave I.J. at home. Father would dictate which of the children Mother could take with her when she left the house. On August 2, 2011, Father asked her to go to the market to get some ice cream. Mother felt something was wrong, turned the web camera on the family computer and hid an MP3 player set to audio record. When she returned home the web camera was off. When she listened to the MP3 recording, she heard Father asking I.J. if she would move in with him if he left the house, and heard Father tell I.J. that she could have male friends, but could not have sex with them. Mother also discovered that Father had visited "incest websites" in his browsing history. (CT 23-24, 47.)

On August 3, 2011, Mother confronted I.J. about the MP3 recording. I.J. disclosed to Mother that Father had been having sex with her in the family home

for the past four months. I.J. said that every Tuesday, Father would make her come home early from school and would take her to the upstairs room and engage in sexual intercourse with her while her siblings were downstairs. The other children told Mother that Father would take I.J. upstairs when she came home from school. (CT 19, 23.)³

Mother took I.J. and her siblings to the local police station to report the abuse. (CT 19-20, 163-165.) That same day, I.J. was given a medical evaluation. I.J. had no visible injuries and her genital examination was normal except for a small abrasion. (CT 56-63.) Father denied the abuse allegations. (CT 29.)

A social worker interviewed the children. I.J. stated that Father had been sexually abusing her for three years. Father was normally strict, but told her that if she had sex with him he would allow her to have male friends, she could wear whatever clothes she wanted and could have a Quinceñera (a birthday celebration for a girl turning 15-years-old). Father wanted I.J. to watch pornographic videos

³This was not the first time that I.J. had made such allegations. In 2009, I.J. accused Father of sexually abusing her. DCFS substantiated the allegations and detained the children from Father. Three days later, I.J. recanted and the case was dismissed. Mother always remained suspicious and wondered if the allegations were really true. (CT 22-24, 26.)

In 2005, Father was accused of sexually molesting his niece. The niece was 14-years-old at the time and was residing with the family. Mother did not believe the allegations because the niece had run away from home to be with her boyfriend, and when the family reported her as a runaway, that's when she made the allegations. The niece later apologized. (CT 26, 108.)

with him on the family computer that portrayed a father having sex with his daughter, but I.J. did not like it and left the room. Father last had sex with her on August 2, 2011. I.J. denied having sex with anyone but Father. (CT 22-23, 28.)

All of I.J.'s siblings denied any abuse or neglect by Mother or Father. All of the children felt safe at home, liked residing with their parents, and denied that Father or anyone else had ever touched them inappropriately or in a sexual manner. None of the children witnessed I.J. being abused in any way. I.J. never told any of her siblings that she was being touched inappropriately by anyone. (CT 20-21.)

The children later confirmed their earlier statements to a dependency investigator, social worker Harvey. Saul said that he never received spankings and his parents usually talked to him when he got in trouble. Saul said he was not afraid of either of his parents and that he had never been touched inappropriately. (CT 104.) Saul said the allegations were not true and that he had never seen I.J. with Father alone in a room. Saul said Father was "a nice dad who does not hit them," and does not yell. (CT 105.) Saul was physically and psychologically functioning at age level and liked to play soccer and watch television. Saul had no behavioral concerns. (CT 111.) Luis echoed Saul's statements and said the allegations were not true. Luis said Father is "nice" and he had never seen Father mistreat I.J. (CT 105.) Luis was psychologically and physically functioning at age level and liked sports. (CT 111.)

Isabel said that the allegations were not true. Isabel said that Father was very strict (he makes the children clean the house), and that she had once heard Father and I.J. arguing before. Isabel said she had never seen Father and I.J. alone in a room together, aside from one time when I.J. was doing homework and both I.J. and Father were fully clothed. Isabel said Father is "a good dad and that he is very nice." (CT 106.) Isabel was psychologically and physically functioning at age level, liked school and enjoyed spending time with her family. She was outspoken and expressed how she missed her Father. (CT 111.)

Daniel said that Mother would spank him on his bottom and take his toys when he got into trouble, but that Father never spanked him. Daniel was not afraid of his parents. Daniel said the allegations were not true. He had never seen Father and I.J. alone in a room together and had never seen Father mistreat I.J. He said his parents were "nice" to him and his siblings. (CT 107.) Daniel was functioning at age level. Although shy, he stated he would like to visit his Father. (CT 111.)

After interviewing and reviewing the reports pertaining to the additional children, Ms. Harvey concluded they were not completely aware of the details of the case as to I.J. and Father. (CT 113.) The children wanted to see Father badly and had only been able to have one visit with him. (RT 213.)

When Ms. Harvey interviewed I.J. about the allegations she had made three days earlier, she recanted. I.J. said that her Father did not have sex with her. I.J.

said she had lied about the sexual abuse allegations because she was angry with Father and his strictness. I.J. said that she was spending time with the "EMO crew" and was told that she needed to start cutting herself and getting into fights to fit in; Father found out about this and she got in trouble. I.J. said "I did it when I was 11 years old and got away with it. So, I just did it again." I.J. denied that Mother had ever recorded her with an MP3 player, and denied telling Mother she had been sexually abused by Father. I.J. said she had a boyfriend and that they'd had sex on a Tuesday in the boy's bathroom. I.J. could not describe the appearance of the bathroom and said she didn't have her boyfriend's contact information because something was wrong with his phone. 4 (CT 103-104.)

Mother was confused as a result of I.J.'s recantation and said she did not know what to believe about the allegations. Mother did not agree that the sexual abuse had been happening for three years because I.J. told her it had been four months. Mother had noticed that I.J. had been cutting herself, and I.J. said she was doing it to fit in with friends at school. Father had been very upset with I.J. for things she had been doing wrong, and was critical of her because she had problems at school. Father did not allow Mother to take I.J. out of the house because he said I.J. was being "punished." (CT 107-108.) Mother herself had been sexually

⁴Mother reported in her application for a temporary restraining order that Father broke I.J.'s cell phone when he found out that she had a boyfriend. (CT 157.)

abused as a child. (CT 114.)

Ms. Harvey "suspect[ed]" that I.J. had been sexually abused by Father due to Father's patterns of sexual abuse. Father was 21-years-old when he began dating Mother, who was 14-years-old. Mother gave birth to I.J. when she was 16-years-old. Additionally, Father's niece accused him of sexual abuse when she was 14-years-old. Also, I.J.'s statements to DCFS, law enforcement and medical professionals were consistent and offered details as to how the sexual abuse occurred. The physical findings of I.J.'s forensic examination were "consistent" with I.J.'s history. (CT 113.)

ARGUMENT

THE JUVENILE COURT MAY NOT PRESUME THAT A MALE CHILD IS AT SUBSTANTIAL RISK OF FUTURE SEXUAL OR OTHER ABUSE BY HIS FATHER, UNDER WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTION 300, SUBDIVISIONS (B), (D) OR (J), WHERE THE SOLE EVIDENCE OF SUCH RISK IS THE FATHER'S SEXUAL ABUSE OF HIS FEMALE CHILD

There is no question that incest between an adult and a child is a form of child sexual abuse. Such abuse naturally evokes intense feelings of repugnance and anger. But anger is blind. Where a father has sexually abused his daughter, the court will naturally be angered. However, the court has a duty not to turn a blind eye to the evidence and to statutory requirements for dependency jurisdiction. Where a father has sexually abused his daughter, it does not necessarily follow that he will also sexually abuse his sons, or that dependency jurisdiction is necessary to protect his sons. The court must have some evidence beyond the daughter's abuse (e.g., scientific evidence, or factual evidence of father's proclivity to molest boys) to support such a conclusion.

Here, no evidence supported the finding that I.J.'s brothers were at risk of sexual abuse. They did not know about the sexual abuse and had a good relationship with their Father. There was no evidence that Father had an interest in engaging in sexual conduct with a male child. Thus, any *speculation* that Father might sexually abuse a male child was insufficient to support jurisdiction.

I. Evidence that Father sexually abused his daughter is insufficient, in and of itself, to establish that his sons were at a substantial risk of harm under section 300, subdivisions (b), (d) or (j).

In this case DCFS failed to prove, and the juvenile court and court of appeal erred when they held that Father's three sons were at a substantial risk of harm and were described by section 300, subdivisions (b), (d) and (j), solely because Father had sexually abused his 14-year-old daughter. "" "A dependency proceeding under section 300 is essentially a bifurcated proceeding." [Citation.] First, the court must determine whether the minor is within any of the descriptions set out in section 300 and therefore subject to its jurisdiction.' [Citation.] "The petitioner in a dependency proceeding must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the child who is the subject of a petition comes under the juvenile court's jurisdiction." '[Citation.] 'The basic question under section 300 is whether circumstances at the time of the hearing subject the minor to the defined risk of harm.' " (In re A.S. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 237, 243–244.) Where, as here, a county welfare agency alleges only that a Father's sons are at a substantial risk of harm because of the sexual abuse of their sister, there is not sufficient evidence to declare jurisdiction over them under section 300, subdivisions (b), (d) or (j).

A. I.J.'s brothers were not described by section 300, subdivision (b) because there was no evidence whatsoever that they were at substantial risk of serious physical harm.

I.J.'s three brothers were not described by section 300, subdivision (b), based on the sole evidence that Father sexually abused I.J. A child comes within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court under section 300, subdivision (b) when:

The child has suffered, or there is a substantial risk that the child will suffer, serious physical harm or illness, as a result of the failure or inability of his or her parent or guardian to adequately supervise or protect the child, or the willful or negligent failure of the child's parent or guardian to adequately supervise or protect the child from the conduct of the custodian with whom the child has been left, or by the willful or negligent failure of the parent or guardian to provide the child with adequate food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment, or by the inability of the parent or guardian to provide regular care for the child due to the parent's or guardian's mental illness, developmental disability, or substance abuse.

(§ 300, subd. (b).)

Section 300, subdivision (b) means what it says. "Before courts and agencies can exert jurisdiction under section 300, subdivision (b), there must be evidence indicating that the child is exposed to a *substantial* risk of *serious physical* harm or illness." (*In re Rocco M.* (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 814, 823.) This "substantial risk" must be a result of the parent's failure or inability to adequately supervise or protect the child. (*In re A.S.*, *supra*, 202 Cal.App.4th at p. 244; § 300, subd. (b).) The county welfare agency must show by a preponderance of the evidence that the child is a person described by section 300. (§ 355, subd. (a).)

In *In re I.J. et al.* (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 1351, 1365 (*I.J.*), the court upheld the juvenile court's assumption of jurisdiction over I.J.'s male siblings pursuant to section 300, subdivision (b). In so holding, the *I.J.* court deferred to *In re P.A.* (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 1339, 1343, 1345 (*P.A.*), where the court found that two male siblings were at risk of harm under section 300, subdivision (b), by reason of the father's sexual abuse of their sister, even though both brothers indicated they had not observed any inappropriate touching of their sister by the father, and there was no evidence father had ever engaged in homosexual conduct. The court in *P.A.* engaged in little analysis on the issue, but appeared to center its entire decision on its belief that "aberrant sexual behavior by a parent places the victim's siblings who remain in the home at risk of aberrant sexual behavior." (*P.A.*, *supra*, 144 Cal.App.4th at p. 1347.)

Judge Madeleine Flier dissented from the majority opinion in *I.J.* and stated that I.J.'s brothers were not subject to jurisdiction under section 300, subdivision (b) because:

there was no evidence they were at risk of serious physical harm as a result of father's failure to supervise or protect them. The only evidence was that the brothers felt safe with father and wished to continue living with him. The brothers denied any abuse, and no evidence suggested their denials were inaccurate or made to protect father. No other evidence suggested the brothers were at risk of abuse. Additionally, DCFS did not allege that father failed to provide them with adequate food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment. The juvenile court therefore erred in taking jurisdiction under section 300, subdivision (b).

(I.J., supra, 207 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1365-1366 (conc. & dis. opn. of Flier, J.).)

Judge Flier's opinion includes an actual analysis of what is required by section 300, subdivision (b), as well as an application of the relevant facts of this case – and it makes sense. I.J.'s brothers were not shown to be at a substantial risk of harm in the manner described by section 300, subdivision (b).

In *In re Andy G.* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1405, 1415, fn. 6 (*Andy G.*), a case on which the majority opinion in *I.J.* relies, Division Eight of the Second District stated that father was "arguably correct" when he contended that his conduct in sexually abusing his 2-year-old son Andy's two half-sisters (ages 12 and 14), did not put Andy at risk under section 300, subdivision (b).

In support of this conclusion, the *Andy G*. court cited to *In re Rubisela E*.

(2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 177, 196 (*Rubisela E*.), where Division Two of the Second District reversed jurisdictional findings under section 300, subdivisions (b), (c), (d), and (j), that the four younger brothers of a 13-year-old female victim of sexual abuse were at risk of similar abuse. In *Rubisela E*., there was no evidence of any suspicious behavior toward the boys and no evidence of any homosexual actions or tendencies on the part of the father. County counsel conceded that section 300, subdivision (b) did not apply to father's conduct. (*Rubisela E.*, *supra*, 85 Cal.App.4th at p. 194.)

Section 300, subdivision (b) should never have been applied to I.J.'s brothers. To support jurisdiction under this section, there must be evidence that "at the time of the jurisdictional hearing the child is at substantial risk of serious physical harm....' "(In re B.T. (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 685, 692.) The only evidence here showed that I.J.'s brothers were well taken care of, loved their Father, were not in fear of him, had never suffered any physical abuse by Father and were never even spanked by him. As I.J.'s brothers were not at substantial risk of serious physical harm at the time of the jurisdictional hearing, there was no basis for the juvenile court to take jurisdiction of them under section 300, subdivision (b).

B. I.J.'s brothers were not described by section 300, subdivision (d) because there was no evidence, just speculation, that they were at substantial risk of sexual abuse.

I.J.'s brothers were not described by section 300, subdivision (d) because there was no evidence that they were at substantial risk of sexual abuse. A child comes within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court under section 300, subdivision (d) when:

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