IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of I.J., et al.,

Persons Coming Under Juvenile Court Law.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

1

J.J.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S204622

Court of Appeal, 2d District Case No. B237271

Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. CK59248

SUPREME COURT FILED

DEC 2 6 2012

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From a Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Eight

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

On Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles, Juvenile Division
The Honorable Timothy R. Saito, Judge Presiding

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

ARGUMENT

Dependency laws seek to protect not only the child victims from abuse, but also those children at risk of abuse. "[T]he purpose of [dependency laws] is to provide maximum safety and protection for children who are currently being physically, sexually, or emotionally abused, being neglected, or being exploited, and to ensure the safety, protection, and physical and emotional well-being of children who are at risk of that harm. . . . " (§ 300.2.)

To help accomplish this goal, section 300 describes the categories of children who may be adjudged dependents of the juvenile court. The relevant subdivisions here are (b) (failure to protect), (d) (risk of sexual abuse), and (j) (sibling abuse). As is explained below, the father's ongoing, incestuous rape of I.J., done at times when the siblings were at the home,

provided substantial evidence to support the assumption of jurisdiction over all the children under section 300, subdivisions (b), (d), and (j).

I. THE FATHER'S REPEATED RAPE OF HIS BIOLOGICAL DAUGHTER, DURING TIMES WHEN THE SIBLINGS WERE ALSO IN THE HOME, WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ASSERT DEPENDENCY JURISDICTION OVER THE SIBLINGS.

Section 300, subdivision (d), permits a court to assume jurisdiction over a child who has been sexually abused or is at substantial risk of sexual abuse, as defined in Section 11165.1 of the Penal Code, by his or her parent, guardian, or a member of the household, or where the parent or guardian failed to protect the child from sexual abuse when he/she knew or should have known of the abuse. (§ 300, subd. (d).)

Similar to the "failure to protect" clause in subdivision (d), subdivision (b), permits a court to assume jurisdiction over a child who is suffering or at risk of suffering serious physical harm or illness resulting from the failure or inability of his/her parent to supervise or protect the child. (§ 300, subd. (b).) Neither subdivision requires a court to find that the subject child has been actually harmed, only that the child is at substantial risk of harm. (See § 300, generally.)

Subdivision (j) jurisdiction is warranted where a child was abused or neglected and there is a substantial risk the child's siblings will be abused or neglected as well. Subdivision (j), permits juvenile courts to protect the siblings who may not yet have been abused or neglected.

Here, the male siblings fall squarely into all three subdivisions as the children were at risk of sexual abuse and other harm at the hands of their father.⁴

A. The Juvenile Court Correctly Assumed Jurisdiction over I.J.'s Male Siblings under Section 300, Subdivision (d).

The Court of Appeal properly sustained jurisdiction over I.J.'s male siblings under section 300, subdivision (d). The appellate court reasoned that I.J.'s brothers, though unaware of the sexual abuse, were not likely to remain ignorant of that fact indefinitely. (Opinion, p. 13.) The appellate court also reasoned that I.J.'s brothers, once aware of their sister's sexual abuse by their father, could, *inter alia*, become sexual predators like their father. (Opinion, p. 13.) The Majority aptly noted that the unpredictable nature of sexual predators makes it incumbent upon juvenile courts to assert jurisdiction over any child living in the home. (Opinion, p. 13.) This commonsense approach is supported by the statute's plain language, consistent with other dependency and criminal statutes, and the case law interpreting them.

Reviewing courts need only determine whether the overall jurisdictional ruling over the children, not the particular subsets, was appropriate in order to affirm. (*In re La Shonda B.* (1979) 95 Cal.App.3d 593, 599-600.) "The reviewing court may affirm a juvenile court judgment if the evidence supports the decision on any one of several grounds" (*In re Jonathan B.* (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 873, 875, 877.) Regardless, in the case at bar, substantial evidence supported the findings of jurisdiction under all three subdivisions, (b), (d), and (j), of section 300.

1. The statute's plain language.

Section 300, subdivision (d), permits a juvenile court to assert jurisdiction where:

The child has been sexually abused, or there is a substantial risk that the child will be sexually abused, as defined in Section 11165.1 of the Penal Code, by his or her parent or guardian or a member of his or her household, or the parent or guardian has failed to adequately protect the child from sexual abuse when the parent or guardian knew or reasonably should have known that the child was in danger of sexual abuse.

Thus, jurisdiction is warranted when a child has been sexually abused, is at risk of sexual abuse as defined by Penal Code section 11165.1, or the parent fails to protect the child from sexual abuse. (§ 300, subd. (d).) Penal Code section 11165.1, refers to specific acts of sexual abuse and includes sexual assault, incest, and child molestation. (Pen. Code § 11165.1, subd. (a).) The definition of "child molestation" is set forth in Penal Code section 647.6. (Pen. Code § 11165.1, subd. (a).)

The California Supreme Court explained the primary purpose of Penal Code section 647.6, is the "protection of children from interference by sexual offenders, and the apprehension, segregation and punishment of the latter." (*People v. Brandao* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 436, 441 [citing *In re Gladys R.* (1970) 1 Cal.3d 855, 868, internal quotation marks omitted].) Penal Code section 647.6 and the case law interpreting it broadly define

"child molestation" as not requiring a touching, but instead necessitating only (1) conduct a normal person would unhesitatingly be irritated by and (2) conduct motivated by an unnatural or abnormal sexual interest. (*Ibid.*)

Thus, the statutory scheme envisions that sexual abuse does not require a touching and can constitute otherwise innocuous acts that are objectively irritating or harassing to a child and subjectively motivated by an unnatural or abnormal sexual interest by the perpetrator. In determining whether the defendant's conduct would unhesitatingly irritate or disturb a normal person, courts employ an objective test, not dependent on whether the child was in fact irritated or disturbed. (*Ibid.*) Thus, the fact that the siblings were at the home during times of the abuse and could have walked in on it, meant their father "failed to adequately protect [them] from sexual abuse " (§ 300, subd. (d).)

In *People v. Kongs* (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 1741, 1751, the Court held that photographing a child may constitute sexual abuse. In that case, the defendant attended family photo shoots and posed and photographed girls, none of whom were nude, with their legs spread and their underwear or genitalia showing with his camera focused on that area. The defendant told police that he received a roller-coaster like thrill from his activities, and described it as a "fetish." (*Id.* at p. 1747.) The Court held the evidence sufficient to sustain the charge of annoying or molesting a minor under Penal Code section 647.6. (*Id.* at p. 1751.)

In *People v. Thompson* (1998) 206 Cal.App.3d 459, 468, the Court found that repeatedly driving past a child while staring and gesturing at her may constitute sexual abuse. The *Thompson* Court held that the Penal Code does not require the specific act be lewd or obscene; rather the statute requires proof of acts that a normal person would be unhesitatingly irritated by, and that the acts be motivated by an abnormal or unnatural interest toward the child victim. (*Ibid.*)

In People v. Brandao, supra, 203 Cal. App. 4th at p. 441, the Court held that sending an inappropriate text message to a child may constitute sexual abuse. There, the Court held that although no specific intent is required under Penal Code section 647.6, subdivision (a)(1), the statute does require that the act be motivated by an unnatural or abnormal sexual interest or intent with respect to children. (Ibid.) In People v. Brandao, a 15-year-old girl received numerous sexually suggestive text messages from her high school soccer coach who was 37 years old. (Id. at p. 440.) Other girls had also received suggestive messages. (Ibid.) The Court rejected the defendant's argument that he was joking and did not mean to hurt or take advantage of the girls. (Id. at p. 441.) The appellate court reasoned that Penal Code section 647.6, subdivision (a)(1), requires no specific intent, only that the acts be "motivated by an unnatural or abnormal sexual interest or intent with respect to children." (Ibid.)

The Court of Appeal in *People v. Phillips* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1383, 1395, found the evidence sufficient to support a conviction under Penal Code section 647.6, even though there was no specific child targeted. The *People v. Phillips* Court concluded that the man's actions — masturbating in his car parked outside a school — showed an intent to be observed by a child. (*Ibid.*) While the father here may not have intended for his sons to observe the abuse of I.J., his actions certainly placed them at risk of such. Children at risk are expressly protected by section 300, subdivision (d).

A father who rapes his biological daughter while his sons are in close proximity can be said to have committed an act "motivated by an unnatural or abnormal sexual interest or intent with respect to children." (*Ibid.*) And, while the father's sexual interest or intent may not have been directed at his male children, his rape of their sister, while the sons were at the home, placed the boys at risk. And, even though the father may not have intended for his sons to see the abuse of their sister, he certainly did not protect them from that possibility, thus triggering section 300, subdivision (d).

Thus, the statutory scheme's broad definition of sexual abuse does not discount non-touching offenses, or the risk of them, as merely "collateral damage," as claimed by the Dissent (Opinion, p. 15), but

17

properly categorizes them as varying types of sexual abuse for which dependency jurisdiction under section 300, subdivision (d), is proper.

2. <u>Both dependency and criminal statutes protect boys</u> from sexual predators who have abused girls.

A look at other dependency and criminal statutes confirms the conclusion that a male child, who lives in the same household as a parent who has committed ongoing acts of incestuous rape, is at risk of harm or abuse as defined by section 300, subdivision (d). For example, section 355.1, in relevant part, creates a presumption that any child, whose parent previously was found to have committed acts of sexual abuse as defined by Penal Code section 11165.1 or is required to register as a sex offender under Penal Code section 290, is subject to the juvenile court's jurisdiction. (§ 355.1, subd. (d).) The presumption does not distinguish between male and female abuse victims.

The Legislature enacted section 355.1, subdivision (d), in 1999, as emergency legislation. (Stats. 1999, ch. 417 § 2, eff. Sept. 16, 1999.) The Legislature acknowledged that children were placed at risk "when permitted contact with a parent or caretaker who has committed a sex crime." (Leg. Com. com., West's Ann. Welf. & Inst. Code (2008 ed.) foll. § 355.1, at p. 499.) Section 355.1, subdivision (d), was designed to provide children with "greater protection from sexual abuse by requiring a person with a history of sexual abuse to bring forth evidence sufficient to show

that the minor in that person's care or household is not at risk of harm."

(Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 208 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 13, 1999.) Section 355.1, subdivision (d), makes no distinction based on the gender of the prior victim and the gender of the child subject to the dependency court proceedings. While not directly applicable to the case at bar, section 355.1, subdivision (d), demonstrates the commonsense notion that siblings of molested children are at risk of sexual abuse and are entitled to the protection of the juvenile court. (*In re P.A., supra,* 144 Cal.App.4th at p. 1347.)

The father makes much ado about the inapplicability of section 355.1. (PB 30-43.) Respondent acknowledges the presumption was not triggered in the instant matter. Indeed, at trial, DCFS was the only party to proffer evidence; clearly, the juvenile court did not shift the burden to the father. (RT 201-204.) Section 355.1 is relevant, however, to illustrate a legislative concern about any child living in a home with a sexual predator. Had the father here, years earlier, been convicted of sexual abuse, the section 355.1 presumption would have been triggered, and the male siblings living in the home would have been adjudged dependents unless the father produced evidence that he no longer posed a threat. It logically follows that when a juvenile court finds a father has perpetrated incestuous rape against his daughter while male siblings were in the home, the court is authorized

to find the boys at similar risk and assert dependency jurisdiction over them.

Similarly, section 361.5, subdivision (b)(6), though not directly applicable to the case at bar, also acknowledges that siblings of molested children, regardless of gender, are at risk of sexual abuse when in the same home as the sexual predator, and are entitled to the protection of the juvenile court. Section 361.5, subdivision (b), lists circumstances where a juvenile court, after removing a child from parental custody, can deny a parent reunification services and immediately place the child in a permanent, out-of-home plan. Subdivision (b)(6), permits a court to forego reunification services where "the child has been adjudicated a dependent pursuant to any subdivision of Section 300 as a result of severe sexual abuse . . . to the child, a sibling, or a half sibling by a parent or guardian." (§ 361.5, subd. (b)(6).) Included in the definition of "severe sexual abuse" is intercourse. (Ibid.) The statute makes no distinction between the gender of the child and the abused sibling, thus further evincing a legislative determination that siblings of severely sexually abused children, regardless of gender, are at substantial risk of harm.

Correspondingly, under section 290 of the Penal Code, all persons convicted of a sex crime are subject to mandatory lifetime registration as a sex offender. This includes defendants convicted of molesting children under Penal Code section 647.6. The purposes of Penal Code section 290

are twofold: (1) to ensure sexual predators are readily available for police surveillance because they are likely to commit similar offenses in the future and (2) to allow the public to take protective measures by identifying the presence of sex offenders. (See Stats. 1996, ch. 908, § 1, subd. (b), p. 5105; see also *People v. Brandao*, *supra*, 203 Cal.App.4th at p. 441.) California law also provides for residency restrictions for sex offenders, barring them from living within 2,000 feet of schools and parks where children congregate. (Pen. Code § 3003.5, deemed unconstitutional as applied in *In re Taylor* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 210.) These provisions make no distinctions based on the gender of the victims and the children intended to be protected in the future, evincing a legislative understanding that child sexual predators pose a risk to all children.

3. <u>Case law supports a finding of jurisdiction under section 300, subdivision (d).</u>

Applying case law that analyzes section 300, subdivision (d), to the instant facts, demonstrates the juvenile court rightly assumed jurisdiction over I.J.'s brothers under section 300, subdivision (d).

In *In re Joshua J*. (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 984, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that a father who sexually abused a six-month-old boy reasonably could be found to pose a risk of sexual abuse to the father's newborn son. (*Id.* at p. 987.) The finding was inferentially supported not only by the nature of the abuse, but also by evidence showing that the

father suffered from serious mental-health problems as well. (*Id.* at pp. 987-988, fn. 3.)

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